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THE NEW EGYPTIAN GALLERIES

While the Egyptian Department’s exhibitions
have occasionally been overhauled in the past,
and in fact as recently as 1953, the previous
reinstallations were primarily motivated by
necessary reallocations of space. Our presen-
tation has generally benefited, but modifica-
tions that might render the architectural set-
ting more suitable for display were seldom pos-
sible. As a result, some parts of our exhibi-
tions—such as the overpopulated Sculpture
Court or the ill-lit galleries on the Fifth Ave-
nue side—have long been earmarked for im-
provement. It was expected that a compre-
hensive plan would have been realized within
ten or fifteen years, but the availability of
funds bequeathed by Helen E. Folds and the
necessity of replacing the floors above the
Egyptian galleries have greatly advanced our
hopes; this work not only provides for greater
uniformity and better overhead lighting
throughout the wing but also gives us an op-
portunity to make other architectural adjust-
ments.

Under improved lighting and brighter sur-
roundings, the familiar fagade of the tomb of
Per-nebi will be seen beyond the columns at
the north end of the entrance hall, as it has
been for half a century, and the gallery to the
right of it will again house the prehistoric and
protodynastic collections. This gallery will no
longer remain the chronological excursus that
it has been in the past, however; instead of
resuming the sequence at its north end, we
are transferring the remaining Old Kingdom
material to the other side of the Per-nebi
area, continuing the earlier periods along the
west side. In so doing, we shall be able to
bring together the major elements of four
tomb chapels from Saqqara and make it pos-
sible to obtain a general impression of all of
them from a single vantage point. One of
these—a group of reliefs from the tomb of
Kai-em-senui—has been extracted from the

wall on the left of the Per-nebi area and re-
located against the west wall of the adjacent
room, where it takes its place as the latest
member of the series. This move has enabled
us to widen the door between the two rooms,
emphasizing their relation as well as the direc-
tion of our chronological sequence. It has also
provided a solution for one of our most diffi-
cult problems. The tomb chapel of Ra-em-
kai, being much too narrow to accommodate
the present-day flow of attendance, has for
some years been flattened out along a wall,
a great distance from the reliefs to which it
properly belongs. The newly widened aper-
ture permits us to set up three of its walls pre-
cisely as they were constructed, while its
fourth wall and one side of the entrance pas-
sage, both retaining their original orientation,
have been retracted to provide free access at
either end. The remainder of this second Old
Kingdom gallery will feature smaller portions
of wall reliefs from tombs and temples, some
of which have never been exhibited and
others not for many years. The next room is
designated for Old Kingdom sculpture in the
round. Its newest feature is an improved in-
stallation of our particularly fine series of
wooden statues and statuettes. Beyond the
Auditorium Lounge, two further galleries
present smaller Middle Kingdom material,
the first devoted to the fascinating group of
ancient models of daily life from the tomb of
Meket-Re, the second containing sculpture
and relief.

The galleries on the Fifth Avenue side will
benefit particularly from better lighting, al-
though the results will not be seen until the
earlier galleries have been completed. The
small first room will contain objects of the
early New Kingdom, the second, of greater
length, will include the Amarna and Rames-
side periods, and the third is reserved for the
succeeding dynasties as well as Greco-Roman
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times. The last of these brings us back to our
starting point in prehistory. In the midst of
this chronological circuit, the outstanding
collection of Egyptian jewelry has been re-
turned to its former location. Completely re-
installed only five years ago, this exhibition
will receive improvements in its cases and
their illumination.

Although the large Sculpture Court, in
which the majority of our larger reliefs and
statues are displayed, is at present unaffected
by changes in the smaller galleries, this area
will soon undergo a much more dramatic
transformation than has been effected by the
first phase of reconstruction. The second
phase will transform the skylighted center of
the hall into a room enclosed by solid walls
instead of pillars, and its ungainly height will
be reduced by the installation of a subsidiary
skylight at the level of the present balcony
railing. This simple and well-lighted space
will be reserved for the important group of

statues from Queen Hatshepsut’s temple at
Deir el Bahri, including the well-known
sphinx that now guards the approaches of our
exhibition. The equally simplified peripheral
corridors will contain much the same ma-
terial as before, but our massive late sarco-
phagi will no longer encumber the confluence
of doorways, stairs, and elevator at the front
of the area, all the material of this period
being withdrawn to the rear. In its place, two
palmiform columns of the Old Kingdom are
to flank the entrance of the Deir el Bahri
room. In the lateral galleries the Middle
Kingdom and New Kingdom material will be
transposed in accordance with the scheme
of the smaller galleries previously installed.
The New Kingdom side will be dominated
by a series of eight lion-headed Sakhmet sta-
tues ranged side by side along the east wall.

Hexnry G. FiscHER
Associate Curator in Charge of Egyptian Art
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Egyptian Jewelry

NORA E. SCOTT dssociate Curator of Egyptian Art

During the reconstruction of the Egyptian Galleries it has fortunately been possible
to keep much of the Museum’s extraordinary collection of Egyptian jewelry on display,
including the “Lahun Treasure” and the “Treasure of the Three Princesses,” both
world-famous. With the reopening of the Jewelry Room, it may be rewarding to ex-
amine some of the pieces that have been inaccessible and are less well known —and
also to look once again at a few of our more familiar examples.

The reasons for acquiring and wearing jewelry in the Western world are many —
adornment, ostentation, sentiment, as an investment, sometimes as a religious symbol.
Few of us, however, would admit to putting much faith in the type of charm that
dangles from our bracelets, or in the “lucky pieces” tucked away in our pockets.
Nevertheless, jewelry was first worn for its amuletic value: material, design, and color
were still being combined to form talismans for the Egyptian at the end of the dynastic
period, as for the earliest wanderer over the desert. The prehistoric Egyptian, like other
primitive people, tied various objects (whose exact significance we can only guess at)
around his neck and waist, wrists and ankles, in the hope of protection from a hostile
world. He felt himself surrounded by powers he did not understand. The bright day-
time sky and the darkness of the night, the desert itself, the river whose inundation
suddenly made the desert bloom, the sun, the moon, the wind, the spirits of the dead,
the animals of the desert and of the swamps (to him another kind of people) — these
were the forces with which he had to reckon. Now and then he would pick up a stone
that attracted his attention; it might be blue like the sky, or green like fresh vegetation
or red like blood. It might be a shiny yellow stone that didn’t break when he hit it
with another but flattened and spread, and then bent, and became more and more shiny.
Sometimes he found other strange stones with similar properties, especially around a
campfire: perhaps if he put an unpromising lump znzo the fire it too would change into
something shiny that one could flatten and bend. But the strange yellow stone never
got dull, as the others did in time. Surely the very gods must be made of this gleaming,
indestructible material.

1. Teye, Mistress of the Harem, Dynasty xv111, about 1375 B.c. Wood, details painted and inlaid,
with necklace of real beads (carnelian, gold, and blue glass). Height including base 9Y% inches.
Rogers Fund, 41.2.10
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2. Seated figure, Predynastic Period,
about 3500 B.Cc. Unbaked clay,
with painted decoration in red,
green, and black representing
fewelry and possibly tattooing.
Height g inches. Rogers Fund,
07.228.71

By the time the clay statuette in Figure 2
was made, it was realized that what were pri-
marily talismans could also be attractive.
Girls such as this knew that a line of green
paint around upslanting, large black eyes not
only protected them from the blazing divin-
ity of the sun but enhanced their beauty (we
still admire shadowy black eyes, though our
standards of beauty may have changed in
other respects). And in addition to other or-
naments, the figure wears two necklaces of
pretty green and red beads around her neck,
for the hardest stones could now be polished
and drilled for stringing. It should be under-
stood that the Egyptians did not have access
to the flashing stones we now associate with
the word “jewel.” The stones they considered
finest were the ones we call semiprecious,
which they valued for their color: turquoise,
carnelian, lapis lazuli, amethyst, green felds-
par, and red, green, black, and yellow jasper
—all hard and difficult to work. By 4000 s.c.
the Egyptians also knew how to coat the soft,
whitish stone we call steatite with a clear
green or blue glaze (Figure 3) and so imitate
the rare turquoise and feldspar, though it
would be another two thousand years before
they tried to make little beads of the glaze
alone without any base, and five hundred
more before they realized that they had in-
vented glass.

When dynastic history began, with the
unification of Egypt about 3100 B.C., the
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standard of living quickly reached new
heights. Nevertheless, jewelry of the oldest
dynasties is rare, largely because tombs have
almost always been robbed of intrinsically
precious materials; the robbery often occurred
directly after the funeral. The outstanding
jewelry from the first two dynasties comes
from the tomb of Djer, the third king of
Egypt. A workman sent to clear out the tomb
in the reign of Amenophis III (about 1400
B.c.) came on a body, probably that of Djer
himself, and on investigation found four
bracelets still in place. In his hurry to con-
ceal his treasure he tore off wrist, wrappings,
and bracelets all together, and pushed them
into a hole at the top of a wall. He never re-
covered them, and there they remained an-
other thirty-three centuries, until discovered
by the founder of modern archaeology,
Flinders Petrie. This jewelry, now in Cairo,
demonstrates a mastery of such technical
problems as the casting and soldering of gold,
and unusual inventiveness of design and har-
mony of color. Our own earliest important
piece is a plain gold bracelet (Figure 11) from
the tomb of Khasekhemwy, the last king of
Dynasty II (about 2700 B.c.), whose annals
record his erection of the first stone building
in history.

Jewelry of the Old Kingdom (Dynasties
1T1-VI) is also rarely preserved, although it
is widely represented on statues and reliefs.
The most popular pieces, if we can trust the



The jewelry tllustrated in this article is divided
by function, and examples are arranged chrono-
logically to show the historical development

of each form.

Necklaces

3 (opposite). Beads of bone, shell, hard stone,
and glazed steatite, Predynastic Period,
about 4000 B.C. Largest necklace 94 inches
across. Rogers Fund, 32.2.26-28, 36-38

4. Miuyer's necklaces, Dynasty X1, about
2050 B.C. From center: Gold discs; minute
beads of silver, carnelian, and green feldspar;
minute beads of carnelian, and silver
alternating with dark blue glass; beads of
carnelian; hollow gold ball beads. Total
length of ball-bead necklace 24 inches.
Museum Excavations at Thebes, Rogers
Fund, 22.3.320-324

5. Gold necklaces of the New Kingdom. From
center: Two necklaces from the tomb of
the Three Princesses, Dynasty XVIII, about
1450 B.C. Plaques of the smaller engraved
with figures of Maaet, goddess of Truth;
pendants of the larger in the form of flies
(symbols of pertinacity and bravery). Outer
necklace associated with Queen Te-Wosret,
who reigned for a short time at the end of
Dynasty X1x, about 1200 B.C. Length of
outer necklace 24 inches. Fletcher Fund,
26.8.64-65; Bequest of Theodore M. Dauis,
30.8.66




artists of the time, are “broad collars,” made
of row upon row of cylindrical beads, often
with wristlets, anklets, and shoulder straps of
matching design. However, artists who were
representing their clients for eternity were
not interested in the latest fashions and were
usually reluctant to portray them. The rich
tomb owner is never shown wearing bracelets
like those of Djer, nor of Queen Hetep-heres,
the wife of Sneferu and mother of the builder
of the Great Pyramid; the queen’s bracelets,
found by the expedition of the Boston Mu-
seum of Fine Arts, are heavy gold hoops with
an inlaid design of brightly colored butter-
flies. Amulets, furthermore, are scarcely ever
shown, although they were the commonest
type of jewelry and existed by the thousands.
Of various shapes and materials, and each
with its own specific role, they were usually
tied around the finger, wrist, or neck by a
piece of string; the esteem in which they were
held by their owners is reflected in a story
that has come down to us from the age of the
pyramids:

It seems that one day King Sneferu was

feeling depressed, and after a hasty consulta-
tion — though not presumably with Hetep-
heres —it was decided that what was needed
was a picnic on the river, the rowers to be the
twenty most beautiful girls that could be
rounded up, draped in fishnets instead of
more orthodox garments. As might have been
expected, one gitl, unfortunately the stroke,
managed to get into a tangle, upsetting the
others and dropping her “fish-shaped pen
dant of new turquoise” (see Figure 18) into
the water in the confusion. In spite of the
fact that Sneferu promised her another if she
would only start rowing again, she refused,
with the memorable words:

N
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\\\-\\\\\ 3 gﬁﬁl‘\o}?ﬁom‘@;‘g*
o "
hagins. g
T i ““ \
[ o

' A
T o0l BB
T

The exasperated monarch was forced to call
A in the court magician to retrieve the pendant.
Hmunn \ | & She must have been a very pretty gitl.

; : Although the ancient Egyptians, like their
modern descendants (and, some would claim,
archaeologists as well) continued to plunder

*“I want my own and not one like it.”
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Broad collars

6 (opposite, above). Wak's, Dynasty X1, about
2030 B.C. Cylindrical beads, leaf-shaped
pendants, and counterpotses of bright greenish
blue faience, on original string. 15Y4 inches
across. Museum Excavations at Thebes,
Rogers Fund, 40.3.2

7 (opposite, below). Senebtisy's, Dynasty x11,
about 1980 B.C. Beads of carnelian,
turquoise, faience, and faience covered with
gold leaf. Counterpoises of plaster in the
JSorm of falcons’ heads, covered with gold
leaf; eyes of carnelian and other details
of dark blue paste. 10 inches across.
Museum Excavations at Lisht, Rogers
Fund, 08.200.30

8. Amarna Period, late Dynasty Xv111, about
1350 B.C. Imitation, in yellow, green, red,
and white and blue faience, of a garland of
regl flowers. 12Y%4 inches across. Rogers

Fund, 40.2.5

9. Prolemaic Period, 332-30 B.Cc. Miniature

of gold, inlaid with carnelian, turquoise,
and lapis lazuli to represent conventionalized
Slowers. 4 inches across. Dick Fund, 49.121.1




10. Pectoral given to Sit-Hathor-Yunet by her father, Sesostris II, whose cartouche
it bears, Dynasty X11, about 1880 B.C. Gold, the front (above) inlaid with
carnelian, lapis lazuli, turquoise, and garnet; the back (below) modeled
and engraved with the same design. Width 314 inches. Rogers Fund, with
contribution from Henry Walters, 16.1.3

11. Khasekhemwy's, Dynasty 11, about
2700 B.C. Hollow gold, undecorated.
Diameter 23 inches. Gift of Egypt
Exploration Fund, o1.4.2
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the tombs of their ancestors, more examples
of fine jewelry remain to us from the Middle
Kingdom than from the Old, and more still
from later periods. The Mediterranean world
and the South were being opened up, wealth
was pouring into Egypt, and kings and nobles
were decking themselves and their families
with golden ornaments. The Middle King-
dom jeweler maintained a standard of excel-
lence of workmanship and design that has
never been surpassed. His clientele included
men as well as women, the dead as well as the
living, and the gods in their temples.

The jewelry of Miuyet, Sole Favorite of
the King, made in Dynasty XI (about 2050
B.C.) is a fine example of early Middle King-
dom workmanship (Figure 4). Miuyet (her
name means “Kitty”’) was one of six young
gitls (each called herself the “Sole Favorite”)
from the harem of Montuhotep II who were
either wives or wives-to-be of the king, and
who were buried under shrines especially
made for them in his temple. Miuyet, how-
ever, never reached an age when the title
could have had any significance. As H. E.
Winlock described the excavation of her
tomb in the Museum’s Bulletin for November
1921: “When we opened the big sarcophagus
(the lid must have weighed two tons) the
little whitewashed wooden coffin of Miuyet
lay within. . . . Inside we found a second coffin
with strips of cloth covering the little mum-
my. There Miuyet lay upon her side with the

Bracelets and anklets




eyes of her plaster mask gazing through the
eyes painted on her coffins. The coffins were
small, but the wrapped mummy with its
mask was much smaller, and as we came to
unwrap it we found that, small as it was, it
was mostly padding at head and foot to dis-
guise the tiny proportions of the pathetic
little infant within. . . . Bandage after band-
age was removed, and then suddenly there
was a glint of carnelian beads. Miuyet may
have been hastened off to the grave in what-
ever coffins could be found, but at least she
was decked out in all the finery she had worn
during her brief life.

“There was a string of great ball beads of
hollow gold; another of carnelian beads; two
necklaces of minute beads of silver, carnelian,
green feldspar, and rich blue glass; and a neck-
lace of gold disks so fine that strung on leather
bands they look like a supple tube of un-
broken gold. Removing each necklace care-
fully we were able to preserve the exact ar-
rangement of every bead [and] we recovered
all of the brilliant, joyous color scheme of the
jewelry as little Miuyet wore it four thousand
years ago.” Miuyet’s beads are the earliest
glass in the world that can be dated without
question.

The Estate Manager Wah may have been
a poorer relation of the Chancellor Meket-Re,
who served under both Montuhotep II and
his son Seankhkare, and whose funerary
models are among the most popular exhibits

ABOVE:

12, 13. Sit-Hathor-Yunet's, Dynasty X111, about 1850 B.C. Above: Two pairs of
flexible bracelets, with lion amulets and tongue-and-groove clasps of gold,
and beads of turquoise, carnelian, and gold. Length 534 inches. Below:
Anklets of amethyst and gold. Length 13 inches. Rogers Fund, with contribution
from Henry Walters, 16.1.12-15, 16.1.7a, b

14. From the tomb of the Three Princesses, Dynasty Xv111, about 1450 B.C.
Gold, with hinge and pin clasp, inscribed within: “The Good God
Men-Kheper-Re, Son of Re, Tuthmosis, Given Life Forever” (the throne
and personal names of Tuthmosis I11). Diameter 2Y4 inches. Fletcher
Fund, 26.8.133-134

LEFT:
15. Roman Period, 1 century A.D. Gold, with hinge and pin clasp, ornamented

with figures from classical mythology flanked by crowned serpents
(probably those of Isis and Serapis). Rogers Fund, 23.2.1
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Amulets and rings

16. Wak's scarab, Dynasty X1,

7.

about 2030 B.C. Silver with
gold inlays; mounted as amuletic
bracelet with steatite beads on
original string. Length of scarab
1Y inches. Museum Excava-
tions at Thebes, Rogers Fund,

40.3.12

Sit-Hathor-Yunet's amulets, to
be tied to the wrist, Dynasty X11,
about 1850 B.Cc. Gold hiero-
glyphic signs, inlaid with
carnelian and blue and green
paste, meaning (from left to
right) “‘Universal Power,”
“Happiness,” “All Life and
Protection,” “The Heart of the
Two Gods Is Contented,”’ and,
again, ‘‘Universal Power.”
Height of largest % inch. Rogers
Fund, with contribution from
Henry Walters, 16.1.16-20

in the Museum. At any rate, Wah was given
a corner in Meket-Re’s tomb. His mummy,
found intact by our Expedition, remained so
until 1936, when an X-ray examination re-
vealed the presence of a broad collar, neck-
laces, bracelets, scarabs, a mouse, a lizard, and
a cricket, all wrapped in the bandages - the
last three presumably by oversight. So Wah
was unwrapped, his jewelry was removed, and
his bandages (all 460 square yards of them)
were replaced exactly as they had been on his
body. He proved to have been a man of about
thirty years of age, small, with delicate fea-
tures, who suffered from a disease of the bones
of the foot.

Wah’s necklaces are reminiscent of those
of Miuyet, but his ball beads are even larger,
and are of hollow silver. His broad collar (Fig-
ure 6) is faience of an intense green-blue and,
like the rest of his jewelry, is on its original
string (ancient string is friable and must usu-
ally be replaced).

The most interesting piece is the scarab
shown in Figure 16. Scarabs, the best-known
of all Egyptian antiquities, were just coming
into vogue in Wah’s day. They were a com-
bined seal and amulet, necessary to the Egyp-
tians, who did not have locks and keys, cup-
boards and drawers. Their possessions were
normally stored in chests, baskets, and jars,
which were tied up with cords; over the knot
was a lump of clay into which the owner’s
private seal was impressed. These seals took
a variety of forms, often animal, of which that
of the scarab beetle became the most popular,
as its naturally flat underside was suitable for
engraving. Scarabs are never real beetles, but
copies in various stones, faience, or some-
times metal, of the natural form (Figures 19,
20, 21); the expert can date a scarab by the
style of its back and sides, by its inscription,
and often by its material.

Wah’s scarab is of a typical Middle King-
dom style, its base engraved with a design of

spirals and hieroglyphs. It is exceptionally
large, however, made of solid silver, and its
back is unique, inlaid in pale gold with the
names and titles of Wah and his patron, the
Chancellor Meket-Re. The scarab shows signs
of having been worn during Wah’s lifetime,
but for the burial it was strung up on heavy
linen cord with one barrel-shaped and one
cylindrical bead, to form an amulet whose
exact significance we do not know.

Wah, like Miuyet, lived at Thebes, the
capital of the kings of Dynasty XI. The
founder of Dynasty XII, Amenemhet I,
moved his seat of government to the north;
his cemetery was at Lisht, where our Expedi-
tion excavated for many years. The House
Mistress Senebtisy was apparently related to
Amenembet’s vizier and was buried near him.
She was a rich woman, and, although her
tomb was small, her funerary equipment was
expensive (Figure 7). But she decided to
wear for her journey to the next world a
simple but charming circlet of looped gold
wire she had been fond of in life. It is shown
(Figure 23) on a cast of a head of Queen
Nefretity, and the wig is modern. Senebtisy’s
own wig could not be preserved, but enough
was left to show that the little gold flowers,
resembling daisies, were sewed to the hair at
regular intervals and were worn with the
circlet. The Egyptians loved flowers and, par-
ticularly in the earlier representations, were
often shown with their hair held in place with
twisted garlands; many later elements of de-
sign go back to these natural forms. Seneb-
tisy’s flowers, in turn, are echoed in the wig
ornaments of brightly colored faience some-
times worn by ladies of the New Kingdom.

Senebtisy lived about fifty years after Wah;
Princess Sit-Hathor-Yunet 130 after Seneb-
tisy. This princess was the daughter, sister,
and aunt of kings who ruled during what
later generations looked back on as Egypt’s
golden age. Her mummy has disappeared, but




she must have been tiny, for her jewelry
would have fitted Senebtisy, who was just
four feet eight inches tall. She could not have
been less than forty when she died, even if
she were the child of her father’s old age, as
her brother reigned for thirty-five years, and
she lived into the reign of her nephew.

Sit-Hathor-Yunet’s jewelry (Figures 10,
12, 13, 17) is one of the glories of the Metro-
politan Museum. The story of its discovery
has been told many times; how it remained
safely hidden in a niche in the tomb, and how
the individual elements and inlays, disordered
by ancient floods, were removed one by one
by the English archaeologist Guy Brunton,
who remained in the niche without leaving it
for five days and nights, so that we know not
a single fragment was lost.

The pectoral ornament (Figure 10) given
her by her father, Sesostris II, is considered
one of the two finest antiquities in the Egyp-
tian collection (the other is the statue of
Haremhab in the Sculpture Court), and the
finest piece of jewelry to have come down
from ancient Egypt. Although one of the
best-known of Egyptian antiquities it never
loses its fascination. Elegant in design and of
superb workmanship, it bears the cartouche
of Sesostris, supported by two falcons repre-
senting the sun god and by hieroglyphs read-
ing “hundreds of thousands of years” and
“life.”” The base is of gold, to which are sol-
dered fine gold wires to outline the details of
the design. Each little detail is filled with a
minute piece of turquoise, lapis lazuli, or car-
nelian, cut to exact size; the eyes of the falcons
are of garnet. In all there are 372 pieces of
semiprecious stone, each cut and polished
separately. The details of the design are mod-
eled and engraved on the golden back, which
in its own way is as extraordinary as the
brightly colored front.

Our second ““treasure” (Figures 5, 14, 21,
24-27) —the most extensive find of Egyptian
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jewelry and related objects ever to appear on
the market —was made four hundred years
later, in Dynasty XVIII, for three minor
wives of Tuthmosis III: Syrian girls called
Merhet, Menwy, and Merty. They had been
buried with their treasure about 1450 B.c., in
a tomb discovered and plundered during the
First World War by inhabitants of a nearby
village. The circumstances of the discovery
and the jewelry itself were described by Mr.
Winlock in The Treasure of Three Egyptian
Princesses, in 1948. By that time the Museum
had been able to acquire three sets of gold,
silver, glass, and fine stone tableware (the glass
vessels among the earliest ever made); three
sets of cosmetic jars mounted in gold; two
silver and gold mirrors; three sets of funerary
jewelry of gold; and jewelry worn during life
—on special occasions or in the harem — most
of which showed signs of use. The latter jewel-
ry included bracelets, anklets, rings, necklaces,
earrings, a circlet, a headdress, parts of three
broad collars, one girdle and parts of two
others, and parts of two belts—all of gold
embellished with brightly colored stones or
glass.

These objects and a number of large stone
vessels had all found their way into the hands
of dealers by the early twenties and were ac-
quired in lots. At the time of the last pur-
chase, however, it was known that one lot had
got away. This was understood to consist of
many elements of jewelry, including a number
of *“‘nasturtium seed’ beads packed in a cigar-
ette box” and additional gold vessels. These
elements and two goblets, each of a shape not
represented in the earlier purchases, were
finally acquired in 1958.

When the treasure first became known it
was believed to have been undisturbed until
found by the villagers. Nevertheless, certain
objects we should have expected to find in
such a burial are missing, among them the
third mirror, ritual vessels (of which we have
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18. Catfish pendant, Dynasty X1i1,

19.

20.

2I.

22,

about 1850 B.c. Turquoise,
with fins and tail of gold. Length
34 inch. Museum Excavations
at Lisht, Rogers Fund,
09.180.1182

Amethyst scarab, set in gold
base, Dynasty X11, about 1860
B.C. A gold wire passes through
the scarab and is knotted behind
like a piece of string. Diameter
34 inch. Carnarvon Collection,
Gift of Edward S. Harkness,

26.7.756

Small turquoise scarab, Dynasty
x11, about 1800 B.C. Tapered
ends of gold wire pass through
the scarab and are wound

at the sides. Diameter 34 inch.
Museum Excavations at Lisht,
Rogers Fund, 15.3.205

Gold scarab from the tomb of
the Three Princesses, Dynasty
xviil, about 1450 B.C. Gold
swivel mounting, the pin passing
through caps on the fundus.
Diameter V% inch. Carnarvon
Collection, Gift of Edward S.
Harkness, 22.9.3

Heavy gold signet of an official
of Tutankhamen, whose name
it bears, Dynasty Xv1i1, about
1355 B.C. 1Y% inches from
front to back. Gift of Edward S.
Harkness, 22.9.3



two handles) and other instruments used in
religious ceremonies, crown pieces for two
headdresses, two additional circlets, and a
third belt (for which we have the clasp).
These objects would have been of great in-
trinsic value. We cannot tell now whether all
of them ever existed, whether they were
stolen at the time of the funeral, or whether
the man or men to whose share they fell in
1916 hammered them down to sell as gold.
But it is probable that if they still survived
in their original form they would have come
to light by now.

Owing to the regrettable way in which the
tomb was cleared it will never be possible to
say with certainty how the various small ele-
ments were originally combined. Undoubted-
ly many are missing, lost in the darkness as
the thieves were dividing their loot; a few
have been dispersed among other collections.
But the most difficult problems of sorting and
arranging had been met by Mr. Winlock when
the earlier purchase was first put on display,
and many of the recently acquired pieces be-
long to jewelry already partially assembled
by him, including the broad collars, belts,
and girdles. In addition we now have another
girdle, made of the gold nasturtium seeds re-
ferred to above, a second headdress, and ele-
ments presumably from the missing third one.

For the restrung collars, we have parallels
in wall paintings of the period, which show
that the fashion in these traditional orna-
ments had changed. Instead of consisting of
solid rows of tubular beads as before, the
smarter of the new collars were made up of
elements like ours, of many forms and colors,
meshing together to form an openwork de-
sign (Figure 8 is a later example of the type).
The most important of the jewels, however,
are the headdresses. Unlike the broad collars
—unusually elaborate examples of a well-
known article of dress—the headdresses are
unique. Two are composed of rosettes of in-
laid gold, fitted together to make long, taper-
ing strands that in turn mesh at the sides. On
one of these (Figure 25), the solid fabric thus
formed is joined to a crown piece, giving the
effect of a wig of gold, encrusted with glass



Headdresses

All headdresses are shown on casts of a
quartzite head of Queen Nefretity ( Dynasty
XV1I1, about 1370 B.C.), with modern wigs
that illustrate ancient styles of hairdressing.

23 (opposite, above). Senebtisy’s gold wire
circlet and floral wig ornaments, Dynasty
x11, about 1980 B.c. Diameter of circlet
9 tnches. Museum Excavations at Lisht,
Rogers Fund, 07.227.6-7

24 (opposite, below). Headdress from the tomb
of the Three Princesses, Dynasty Xv111,
about 1450 B.C. Gold, inlaid with
carnelian and blue glass. Funds from the
Huntley Bequest, 58.153.1-2

25. Great headdress from the tomb of the
Three Princesses. 796 gold rosettes, inlaid
with carnelian, blue glass, and turquoise;
gold crown piece engraved with leaf
designs that once alternated with inlaid
leaves of glass. Length in front 14 inches.
Gift of Edward S. Harkness and
Henry Walters, 26.8.117
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26. Gazelle circlet from the tomb of
the Three Princesses. Two
Slexible bands of gold, joined in
front and tied with a cord
behind. Two gazelles’ heads are
Sastened to the center, flanked
above and on each side by two
rosettes inlaid with carnelian
and blue and green glass. Length
of forehead band 17 inches.
Gift of George F. Baker and
Mr. and Mrs. V. Everit Macy,
26.8.99

27. Detail showing the gazelles
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and semiprecious stones. This headdress was
part of the first purchase, and has not been
altered. The recently acquired rosettes, of the
same type, belong to the second, for which,
unfortunately, we have no crown piece. We
have therefore made it somewhat shorter and
fuller (Figure 24), forming a chaplet of gold,
carnelian, and turquoise-blue florets to tie on
over the wig and frame the face. There is a
third set of rosettes, all of the same size, but
these are not sufficiently numerous to arrange.

As mentioned above, there may also have
been two more gazelle-head circlets, like the
one that survives (Figure 26). Similar circlets
are known from wall paintings; the gazelle
heads (Figure 27) replace the vulture and
uraeus worn by women of royal birth.

This treasure of gold and silver and brightly

colored stones, presented to three of his fav-
orites by the greatest of the pharaohs, testifies
to the wealth and sophistication of his court
and forms one of the most spectacular groups
of Egyptian goldsmiths’ work in existence.
But though Merhet, Menwy, and Merty may
not always have been conscious of it as they
admired themselves in their silver mirrors
with the golden handles, their great head-
dresses, their bracelets and anklets (so like
those of the prehistoric girl), their rings, neck-
laces, and broad collars were all intended not
only to make them even more alluring to their
lord and master but to protect them from
the malice of their rivals in the harem and the
perils and pitfalls of everyday life, and to keep
them safe from the dangers they would en-
counter on their journey to the hereafter.



TwoRoyal Monuments of the
Middle Kingdom Restored

HENRY G. FISCHER Associate Curator in Charge of Egyptian Art

There is perhaps no greater curatorial pleasure
than the reconstruction of a fragment that at
first sight looks unpromising—for exhibition
at any rate-but that ultimately proves to be
of unique interest, both from a scholarly and
an aesthetic point of view. Two such pleasures
have fallen our lot within the past year and
both of them, as it happens, concern royal
monuments of the Twelfth Dynasty, dating
to the mid-twentieth and mid-nineteenth
centuries B.C.

The smaller and later of the two fragments
is the battered upper half of a seated statuette,
which, when its disguise is penetrated, is im-
mediately recognizable as Sesostris III, the
fifth ruler of his line (Figure 1). Although it
is only four inches high and could not have
measured more than nine inches when it was
intact, the modeling of its hard green crystal-
line stone is extraordinarily fine. The minute
detail of the intact left eye shows as much
individuality as do much larger portraits of
the dour-faced king (Figure 3); beneath a
puckered brow his gaze is veiled by a heavy
upper lid that was evidently his most salient
feature, for it reappears in otherwise conven-
tional representations in relief (Figure 5). A
sagging lower lid is underscored with incised
lines that radiate from the nose to indicate
the folds of a deep orbital pouch. Equal care
and proficiency have been devoted to the
torso, which shows a remarkably subtle and

plastic treatment of the pectorals of the chest,
the median line of the abdomen, and the lower
structure of the rib cage.

Few royal statuettes of comparable size are
known to have been manufactured during
the late Middle Kingdom, and the only rela-
tively complete example (Figure 4) is of much
less distinguished workmanship. It may there-
fore seem surprising that so rare an object has
remained since 1921 among unaccessioned ma-
terial found by the Egyptian Department’s
excavations at Lisht. The explanation doubt-
less lies in the fact that, in addition to being
so badly damaged, the king is disguised as a
commoner. Once recognized, however, this
point makes the statuette all the more inter-
esting.

The king’s uraeus cobra has been removed
from his forehead, the projecting sides and
pendent lappets of his nemes-headcloth have
been trimmed away to suit the shape of the
“bag wig” frequently worn by private indi-
viduals of the same period, and the back of
the headcloth has been leveled off, eliminat-
ing the royal pigtail that formerly projected
beneath it. These deletions have now been
restored in plaster to facilitate comparison of
the original and later versions (Figure 2). All
of the changes had been so carefully executed
by the ancient craftsman that scarcely a trace
of the removed parts could be detected. But,
as is fortunately often the case with Egyptian
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1. Statuette of Sesostris 111
(1878-1843 B.C.). Dolomitic
marble, height 334 inches.
Museum Excavations at Lisht,
22.1.1638
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In the present case the small scale of the
statuette was certainly a contributing factor,
since sculpture of this size is much more fre-
quently attested for private persons of the
late Twelfth Dynasty than it is for royalty.
It must also be considered that the private
sculpture of the period reflects the physiog-
nomy of the reigning king to a striking degree.
And at no other period (with the possible ex-
ception of Akhenaten’s reign) was the human
aspect of the divine king so openly revealed.
If, therefore, the reuse of a royal statue by a
commoner is undeniably an extraordinary
phenomenon, it isappropriate that this unique
example should bear the haggard features of
Sesostris I11.

The line of reasoning that has just been
followed assumes, of course, that the altera-
tion occurred only a relatively short time
after the sculpture was completed in its ori-
ginal state, and possibly before it was initially

6. Royal statuette, presumably
Khendjer of Dynasty x111.
From Gustave Jéquier, Deux
Pyramides du Moyen Empire,
pl. 5. Granite, height as
preserved 434 inches. Cairo
Museum, ]. I'E. 53668

7. Inscription on the inside of the

bowl of the offering st